BYLAWS OF THE AMERICAN LEGION AUXILIARY DEPARTMENT OF CALIFORNIA

ARTICLE I

Department Organization

Section 1. The American Legion Auxiliary, Department of California, is chartered by the National Executive Committee of the American Legion Auxiliary and is comprised of Districts and Units attached to Posts of The American Legion and all nonaffiliated Unit members (Headquarters Unit 1000) within the state of California. (2018)

The Department of California charter is signed by the National President and the National Secretary.

Section 2. The Department of California American Legion Auxiliary shall have the authority to create intermediate bodies between the Units and Department to act as a liaison between such organizations and for the purpose of promoting the programs of the American Legion Auxiliary.

Section 3. The Department shall have authority to create and charter new Units and the Department will act as the liaison between such organizations and the National Organization for the purpose of promoting the programs of the American Legion Auxiliary.

The Department shall also have authority to create and charter intermediate bodies (Districts) between the Units and Department to act as a liaison between such organization and the purpose of promoting the programs of the American Legion Auxiliary. An intermediate body shall be administratively subject to the Department and totally under Department jurisdiction. The Department Executive Committee shall have the authority to set forth responsibilities and limits of all intermediate bodies. In no event shall these responsibilities established by the Department Executive Committee usurp the prerogatives of the National Organization, Departments, and Units. (2018)

- **Section 4**. The Department Executive Committee shall define the authority of the Districts.
 - a. The Department of California, American Legion Auxiliary, shall automatically conform to the redistricting plans of The American Legion as to Districts.
- **Section 5.** Units in good standing and holding regular meeting shall not lose their membership in the Department because the Post to which they were attached when chartered was disbanded.
- **Section 6.** Each Unit shall maintain a minimum membership of ten Senior members.
- **Section 7.** Each unit shall adopt the Unit Constitution and Bylaws for its government as prescribed by the American Legion Auxiliary, Department of California. Units should adopt such standing rules for its

government and such regulations as are proper and which do not conflict with the Constitution, Bylaws and Standing Rules of the National and Department organizations.

Section 8. Subsidiary organizations in the Department of California shall be the County Councils, California Girls State Alumnae Association, and all other groups as may be organized under the name and jurisdiction of the Department of California.

Section 9. The fiscal year of the American Legion Auxiliary shall be July 1st to June 30th. The legislative year shall be from Department Convention to Department Convention.

Section 10. All persons handling funds of the Department shall be bonded by a reputable, solvent bonding and surety company; or shall be covered by fidelity-crime insurance in an adequate amount as determined by the Department Audit Committee, Department Finance Committee, and/or Department Executive Committee.

ARTICLE II

NATIONAL CONVENTION

Section 1. The Department Convention shall elect annually five (5) delegates for charter and one (1) for each one thousand five hundred (1,500) members or major fraction thereof, and one (1) alternate for each delegate to the National Convention. Election shall be by ballot when the number of candidates exceeds the number designated. A plurality vote shall elect.

ARTICLE III

ELECTION OF OFFICERS

Section 1. The Department Convention shall elect annually a President, Vice President, and the Junior member of the Finance Committee. Candidates seeking elective Department office or Junior Member of Finance shall be nominated from the convention floor. (See Standing Rules for Elections).

- a. Any member in good standing, present at convention or pre-convention caucus, or who has given her written consent, is eligible to seek Department office.
- **Section 2.** Department Convention shall ratify the election of District Presidents and District Vice Presidents nominated and elected by convention delegates at District preconvention caucus to be held not earlier than forty-five (45) days or later than fifteen (15) days prior to the opening of the following Department Convention.
- **Section 3.** Voting in District preconvention caucus shall be by regularly elected delegates to Department Convention or alternates serving as delegates to the forthcoming Department Convention. Department Officers, District Presidents, Past Department Presidents, Department Chairmen, Members of the

Department Finance Committee, Girls State Director, Junior Conference Director and Hospital Representatives in good standing in their respective Units shall be entitled to vote.

Section 4. There shall be a Department Secretary and Department Treasurer to be nominated by the Department President and confirmed by the Department Executive Committee at the Post-Convention Department Executive Committee Meeting. (Secretary and Treasurer may be combined).

Section 5. Elective Department Officers, Junior Member of Finance Committee, District Presidents and District Vice Presidents and appointed Department Officers shall be installed prior to and take office upon the adjournment of the Department Convention at which they were elected, ratified or appointed, and serve until adjournment of the succeeding Department Convention.

Section 6. In case of death, resignation or removal of the Department President, the Vice President shall immediately succeed to the office. Vacancies in all other Department elective offices and Finance Committee occurring between conventions shall be filled by the Department Executive Committee.

Section 7. In the event of vacancies in both Department President and the Department Vice President offices, the Department Secretary is empowered to call a meeting of the Department Executive Committee or by a referendum vote within thirty (30) days.

Section 8. In case of a vacancy in the office of Department Vice President or other elective officers, the Department President is empowered to fill such vacancies by calling an emergency Executive Committee meeting or by a referendum vote of the Department Executive Committee within thirty (30) days.

Section 9. In case of vacancies in the offices of Department President, Department Vice President, Department Secretary, and Department Treasurer simultaneously, the Junior Past Department President, Department Parliamentarian, the Department Finance Committee Chairman shall call an emergency meeting of the Department Executive Committee within thirty (30) days of such vacancies. This meeting shall be held in the Department Headquarters of the American Legion Auxiliary or by electronic means.

Section 10. In the event there is a vacancy in the office of the Department President, the Department Vice President shall become President and shall assume the duties and authority of the office. In the event the Department Vice President has assumed the office of Department President, **the Vice President** may run for a succeeding full term as Department President. **(2019)**

Section 11. A vacancy occurring in the office of District President shall be filled by the District First Vice President. A vacancy in the office of First Vice President shall be filled by the Second Vice President. Any other vacancy in an office shall be filled by vote of the District at a called meeting. Each unit shall vote the value of previous convention voting strength and shall report to the District President prior to election the names of those selected to cast said votes. Department Officers, District Presidents, Past Department Presidents, Department Chairmen, members of Department Finance Committee, Girls State Director, Junior Conference Director, and Hospital Representatives in good standing in their respective units in the district shall be entitled to vote. Said election shall be ratified by the Department President.

Section 12. All Department Officers, members of the Department Executive Committee and all Department Committee Chairmen must be in good standing in their units.

ARTICLE IV

Duties of Officers

All officers shall perform their duties as described below as well as any others that may be assigned by the Department President.

Section 1. Department President: It shall be the duty of the Department President to preside at all meetings of the Department Convention assembled and the Department Executive Committee; to enforce strict observance of the Constitution and Bylaws, except as hereinafter provided in (d,) (and with the exception of the Legislative Chairman this may be removed if NEC is elected) to appoint chairmen and members of standing committees, and create such other special committees and appoint members thereof as **the Department President** deems advisable, and perform such other duties as custom and parliamentary usage requires. **(2019)**

- a. The Department President should be a member ex-officio of all committees. (2019)
- b. **The Department President** shall sign Bylaws of all Units and Districts after approval of Department Constitution and Bylaws Chairman. **(2019)**
- c. **The Department President** shall call regular meetings of the Executive Committee and special meetings of Executive Committee upon written consent or request of not less than five (5) members of said committee. **(2019)**
- d. **The Department President** shall be vested with authority to grant special dispensation to individual Units or Districts in extreme cases of emergency. Emergency shall be defined to mean epidemics, disaster or unusual climatic conditions when it shall become impossible to function according to Bylaws. **(2019)**
- e. **The Department President** shall appoint the following Department Officers, Chaplain, Historian, Parliamentarian, Sergeant –at Arms, Assistant Sergeant- at- Arms, and Musician. (May be dropped). **(2019)**
- f. **The Department President** shall appoint chairmen and members of all Standing Committees except Legislative and Past Presidents Parley. **(2019)**
- g. **The Department President** shall appoint the Girls State Director from nominees recommended by the Girls State Committee. **(2019)**
- h. **The Department President** shall appoint the Girls State Chairman and members of the Girls State Committee. **(2019)**
- i. **The Department President** shall appoint the Chairman and members of the Convention Commission. **(2019)**
- j. **The Department President** shall appoint the Junior Conference Director and members to the Junior Activities Committee. **(2019)**
- k. The Department President shall be a signatory on all bank accounts. (2019)

I. **The Department President** shall attend budget meetings as Vice President and as the sitting President, and Audit meetings. **(2019)**

Section 2. Department Vice President: The Department Vice President shall act as a representative of the Department President on all matters referred by the Department President. **(2019)**

- a. **The Department Vice President** shall be a Chairman of a Standing Committee, to which she shall be appointed by the Department President. **(2019)**
- b. **The Department Vice President** shall be the presiding officer at a meeting of the organization in the absence of the Department President. **(2019)**
- c. The Department Vice President shall be a signatory on all bank accounts. (2019)
- d. The Department Vice President shall attend budget and audit meetings. (2019)

Section 3. Department Secretary: The Department Secretary may be a paid, full time employee responsible to the Department President and Department Executive Committee. The Department Secretary shall be a member of the American Legion Auxiliary, and an officer of the Department of California. As a paid employee and Department officer the Department Secretary shall serve as a nonvoting member of the Executive Committee and a voting member of the Department Convention. The Department Secretary may be removed from office at any time by a majority vote of the Department Executive Committee. The Department Secretary shall ensure that all duties relative to the necessary operation of the Department office be performed on a timely basis. The Department Secretary shall monitor all investments, record books, ledgers, and accounts, and assure they are current and accurate. In the event the Department Secretary is not a paid employee, the secretary shall have the privilege of vote. (2019)

- a. **The Department Secretary** shall see that a record of all meetings of Department Convention and of the Department Executive Committee be permanently maintained. **(2019)**
- b. **The Department Secretary** shall, under the direction of the Department President, cause due notice to be given of all Department meetings in a timely manner. **(2019)**
- c. **The Department Secretary** shall attend the National Convention at the call of the President. **(2019)**

Section 4. Department Treasurer: The Department Treasurer may be a paid, full time employee responsible to the Department President and Department Executive Committee. The Department Treasurer shall be a member of the American Legion Auxiliary, and an officer of the Department of California. As a paid employee and Department officer the Department Treasurer shall serve as a nonvoting member of the Executive Committee and a voting member of the Department Convention. The Department Treasurer may be removed from office at any time by a majority vote of the Department Executive Committee. The Department Treasurer shall ensure that all duties relative to the necessary operation of the Department office be performed in a timely basis. The Department Treasurer shall monitor all investments, record books, ledgers, and accounts, and assure they are current and accurate.

In the event the Department Treasurer is not a paid employee, **the treasurer** shall have the privilege of vote. **(2019)**

- a. The Department Treasurer shall be a signatory on all bank accounts. (2019)
- **b.** The Department Treasurer shall have the power of disbursing any or all of the money of Department for transacting Department business budgeted under Administrative Fund, subject to confirmation of the convention body. (2019)
- **c.** The Department Treasurer shall have the power of disbursing money of special funds under direction of Department Chairmen, subject to confirmation of the convention body. **(2019)**
- d. The Department Treasurer shall have the power of disbursing all other budgeted funds under supervision of Finance Committee, subject to confirmation of the convention body. No funds in excess of the budget shall be expended by the Department Treasurer, except by authorization of the Department President and Department Finance Committee. Provided, however, that all the time said money is expended or disbursed, the Department Treasurer shall enter or record in a book kept for that purpose, and otherwise account for same. The Department Treasurer shall at all times keep record books, ledgers, and accounts in readiness for auditing. (2019)
- **e.** The office of Department Treasurer shall be bonded in a sufficient sum, to be decided upon by the Department Convention, as prescribed by National, the expense of same to be borne by Department. (2018)
- **Section 5. Department Chaplain**: It shall be the duty of the Department Chaplain to offer prayer at each day's business of the Department Convention and Department Executive Committee meetings and to perform nonsectarian services as may be necessary, adhering to such ceremonial rituals as may be recommended by the Department President.
- **Section 6. Department Historian**: It shall be the duty of the Department Historian to complete a historical record of the administrative year **in which served**. **(2019)**
- **Section 7. Department Sergeant-at-Arms and Assistant Sergeant-at-Arms**: The Department Sergeant-at-Arms and Assistant Sergeant-at-Arms shall advance the colors at the opening of Department Convention and furl them at the close.
- **Section 8. Department Parliamentarian**: The Department Parliamentarian may serve as the Constitution and Bylaws Chairman, with no vote at the Executive Committee Meeting. Questions for higher decision shall be forwarded to National for Counsel General's final decision over the signature of the Department President or Department Secretary.

ARTICLE V

Department Executive Committee

- **Section 1.** The Department Executive Committee shall serve as the governing body of the organization with fiduciary, policy, and strategic responsibility for the organization between Department Conventions. It shall be the duty of the Department Executive Committee, as corporate directors for the American Legion Auxiliary, to ensure that the organization has adequate resources to fulfill its mission. The Department Executive Committee is responsible for the organization's adherence to legal standards and ethical norms.
- **Section 2.** The Department Executive Committee shall adopt policies unless otherwise noted in the Department Constitution, strategic plans and agreements; and accept the Department annual audit, confirm the nomination of the Department Secretary and the Department Treasurer, confirm other department appointments, and confirm the appointment of officials not otherwise provided for in these Bylaws; levy assessments as needed; ratify the cancellation of charters; receive for filing reports from department subsidiary organizations; and other duties and responsibilities that are the normal function of a corporate board of directors.
- **Section 3.** Any immediate governing body established by Department Convention action shall be subordinate to the Department Executive Committee and shall report to, be accountable to, and its actions ratified by the Department Executive Committee.
- **Section 4.** All questions affecting the election, eligibility, conduct, and capacity of Department Officers shall be referred to and determined by the Department Executive Committee. The Department Executive Committee shall be responsible for establishing the process and procedure for making the determination that a Department Officer or a department committee member serving a single term is incompetent, incapacitated, or otherwise unable to discharge the duties of the department office.
- **Section 5.** All questions affecting the election, eligibility, conduct, and capacity of the Department Executive Committee **Person** from any Unit or District or of the Department Officers or members of the Unit or District Executive Committees shall be referred to and determined by the Executive Committee or governing board of the Department involved, which shall be the final authority thereon. The rules governing the fulfillment of this section shall be as provided in the Standing Rules. **(2019)**
- **Section 6.** The Department Executive Committee shall have general supervision over the affairs of the Department and all Department committees in the interim of annual meetings, without power to modify action of previous Department Convention, and shall refer, with recommendations, all proposed measures to Department Convention for decision, which shall be final, except emergency measures which may require immediate action; such action however, to be reported to Department Convention for information.

- **Section 7.** It shall be the duty of each Department Executive Committee **person** to fulfill the responsibilities of the Department Executive Committee, and to articulate the organization's mission, accomplishments, and goals to the public and to **their** District and Units. **(2019)**
- **Section 8.** The Department Executive Committee shall meet as provided in the Standing Rules. Special meetings may be held upon reasonable notice at the call of the Department President. The Department President shall call a meeting of the Department Executive Committee upon written request of not less than five (5) members.
- **Section 9.** The Department Executive Committee shall have the power to transact any business that would come before a Department Convention if it becomes impossible to hold said convention. When the Department Convention is not held, the Executive Committee must provide a method of permitting the units a voice and vote in nominating and electing officers.

ARTICLE VI

Department Committees

- **Section 1.** Pursuant to the Article on Duties of Officers, the Department President may appoint committees as **the president** deems advisable to further the mission of the organization, subject to ratification by the Department Executive Committee. When a vacancy occurs on a committee, the Department President shall appoint a member to serve the remainder of the unexpired term, all subject to confirmation by the Department Executive Committee. **(2019)**
- **Section 2.** Finance Committee One (1) member is elected each year for a 3-year term.
- **Section 3.** The immediate Past Department President is automatically the Legislative Chairman.
- **Section 4.** After three (3) years the Past Department President is the Past President's Parley Chairman.
- **Section 5**. The Department President shall appoint the following standing committee chairmen: Americanism, Auxiliary Emergency Fund, Children & Youth, Community Service, Constitution & Bylaws, Convention Commission, Editor, Education, Girls State, Junior Activities, Leadership, Legislative, Membership, Music, National Security, Past President Parley, Poppy, Public Relations, and Veterans Affairs and Rehabilitation. (2018)
- **Section 6. The Department President** shall appoint Hospital Representatives and Deputies, upon approval of National, and Veterans' Homes Representatives and Deputies. **The Department President** shall appoint the Poppy Production Managers. **(2019)**
- **Section 7.** The composition, terms, and purpose of the Department Standing Committees and Department Committees shall be as provided in the Standing Rules. Amendments to the composition,

terms, or purpose of such department committees may be determined only by a two-thirds vote of the National Convention delegates.

Section 8. Standing committees shall not be increased or diminished without an amendment to the Department Constitution or Bylaws when a new committee is created by National.

ARTICLE VII

Subsidiary Organizations

Section 1. A separately incorporated American Legion Auxiliary subsidiary organization shall conform and comply with all legal and organizational requirements of the Department Organization to ensure that the required constant and continuous control of all trademarks and trade name law is satisfied.

All subsidiary organizations of the American Legion Auxiliary shall be subject to regulation by the United States trademark laws and by action of the American Legion Auxiliary Department Convention or the American Legion Auxiliary Department Executive Committee. At a minimum, each subsidiary organization must comply with the regulations provided in the Standing Rules.

Section 2. Subsidiary organizations in the Department of California shall be the County Councils, Girls State Alumnae, and all other groups as may be organized and listed in the Department Standing Rules under the name and jurisdiction of the Department of California.

ARTICLE VIII

District Organization

Section 1. The officers of the District shall be President, First Vice President, Second Vice President, Junior Past President, Secretary/Treasurer, Historian, Chaplain, Sergeant-at-Arms, and such other officers as the President or the District may deem necessary. The District Secretary/ Treasurer may be divided. No person shall hold more than one District office at the same time.

Section 2. The District President and Vice President shall be elected annually, not earlier than forty-five (45) days nor later than fifteen (15) days prior to the opening of the following Department Convention.

a. If the District of The American Legion shall invite the American Legion Auxiliary District to hold a joint preconvention caucus session, the District may accept the invitation if the election of delegates within the District has been completed and all other preconvention requirements are met. **Section 3.** Voting in preconvention district caucus shall be by regularly elected delegates to Department Convention or alternates, serving as delegates, to the forthcoming Department Convention, Department Officers, District Presidents, Past Department Presidents, Department Chairmen, members of the Department Finance Committee, Girls State Director, Junior Conference Director, Hospital and Veterans' Home Representatives in good standing in their respective units.

a. Registration fee covering full voting strength of the Unit must be paid prior to the District preconvention caucus.

Section 4. Each District shall hold no fewer than two (2) nor more than twelve (12) meetings per year, including the preconvention caucus.

- a) When District Bylaws provide for a delegated District body, the District voting delegation shall be all District Officers, District Chairmen, and such others as the District Bylaws have accorded voice and vote. All Department Officers, Past Department Presidents, Department Chairmen, Members of the Department Finance Committee, Girls State Director, Junior Conference Director, Hospital and Veterans' Home Representatives in good standing in their own Units shall be voting members of said District.
- Unless District Bylaws provide for a delegated District body as in (a), all members of District present in District meetings shall be entitled to voice and vote, except in preconvention caucus.
- c. District preconvention caucus shall nominate and elect a delegate and/or alternate for National Convention, or by vote of the District delegates by caucus assembled at Department Convention.

Section 5. A quorum shall exist at District meetings when one-third (1/3) of the Units in good standing are wholly or partially represented.

ARTICLE IX

Unit Organization

Section 1. Those who desire to form an Auxiliary Unit of this Department shall make application for charter to Department President. Application must be approved by the Commander and Adjutant of the Post to which the Unit is to be attached and certified by the District President. Application must be accompanied by at least ten (10) properly executed senior applications and required Department and National per capita tax for each as well as a charter fee of ten dollars (\$10.00). Charters must be closed thirty (30) days after they have been signed by the Commander and Adjutant of The American Legion Post.

a. The minimum membership of a Unit shall be ten (10) Senior members, with the exception of the Department Headquarters Unit that shall have no minimum membership requirement.

b. A Unit cannot be reinstated under a charter which has been canceled or revoked. It may, however, reorganize and apply for a new charter following the procedure outlined for the organization of new Units.

Section 2. Temporary chairman should ask for nominations for following officers: President, First Vice President, Second Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer (offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be combined), and at least one (1) Executive Committee **person**. Upon their election, the permanent officers shall assume their duties and the President shall appoint chairmen of standing committees and such non-elective officers as are required by the Unit Bylaws. **(2019)**

Section 3. A Unit shall be given the name, location, and number of The American Legion Post to which it is attached.

Section 4. The qualifications and process for establishing and existing as a Unit in good standing shall be as provided in the Standing Rules.

Section 5. Each Unit of the American Legion Auxiliary, Department of California, shall be responsible for having eligibility verified and deciding its membership, subject to the restrictions of the national governing documents. No person who is a member of an organization which has for its aim the overthrow of the United States Government or who subscribes to the principles of any group opposed to our form of government shall be eligible to become or remain a member of the American Legion Auxiliary.

Section 6. All persons handling funds of the Unit shall be bonded by a reputable, solvent bonding and surety company; or shall be covered by fidelity/crime insurance in an adequate amount.

Section 7. Each Unit shall elect the following officers: President, First Vice President, Second Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and one (1) Executive Committee **person**. (The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be combined). **(2019)**

- **a.** The Historian, Chaplain, Sergeant-at-Arms, and such other officers as the Unit may deem necessary may be elected or appointed, provided Unit Bylaws shall specify which are appointive and which are elective, no member to hold more than one (1) elective office.
- **b.** Any member in good standing, present at the nomination or election meeting, or who has given **their** written consent, is eligible to seek office, provided that Units may limit the number of consecutive years as a member may seek election to the same office. **(2019)**

Section 8. Unit officers shall be elected annually by majority vote, at a meeting designated by a vote of the Unit, provided, nominations and elections are held not earlier than April 1st or less than five (5) days prior to the opening of Department Convention. The Unit shall notify their membership and the District President of the time set for election. Officers shall be installed prior to September 1st. Officers shall continue in office until successors are installed.

Section 9. Units shall elect delegates and alternates to the Department Convention at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date set for the District preconvention caucus, but not earlier than April 1st.

Section 10. Each unit must follow uniform Bylaws as provided in the adopted duplicated set of Unit Bylaws and to be governed by the Department Constitution/Bylaws. Revisions or Amendments other than those that must conform to National and Department Constitutions before becoming effective must be approved by the Department Constitution & Bylaws Chairman and signed by the Department President.

ARTICLE X

Finance

Section 1. The revenue of the American Legion Auxiliary, Department of California shall be derived from annual membership dues in a per capita amount established by the Department Convention delegates, and from such other sources as may be approved by the Department Executive Committee. Modification to the Department per capita dues for members shall require a two-thirds (2/3) vote in the affirmative by the Department Convention delegates. Dues shall be payable in amounts as provided in the Standing Rules. A member's status is dependent upon timely payment of dues as provided in the Standing Rules. (2018).

Section 2. The Finance Committee will present the budget annually for approval of the convention delegates.

a. All revenue shall be disbursed under budget control.

Section 3. The Department Organization shall ensure that all persons handling funds of the Department Organization shall be bonded by a reputable, solvent bonding and surety company, or shall be covered by fidelity/crime insurance in an adequate amount approved by the Department Executive Committee.

Section 4. With the exception of the Department Secretary and Department Treasurer, there shall be no salaried officers. Necessary expenses incurred by department officers, National Executive Committee **Person**, Hospital Representatives and chairmen of department committees in the exercise of their duties to the American Legion Auxiliary may be reimbursed from the department treasury when authorized by the department budget or authorized by the Department President and approved by the Finance Committee. **(2019)**

ARTICLE XI

Suspension, Cancellation and Revocation of Charters

Section 1. All charters granted by the American Legion Auxiliary are hereby ratified and confirmed.

Unit Charters

Section 1. In addition to the revocation as provided in the National Constitution, charters may be canceled, suspended, or a Unit placed on probation. The Department Executive Committee may order the suspension of a charter for a period not to exceed beyond the closing of the next succeeding Department Convention, as a disciplinary measure, or pending action relative to final revocation, providing notice of such proposed action has been sent to the Unit from Department Headquarters, bearing the signature of the Department President, at least thirty (30) days prior to the Department Executive Committee meeting, and an opportunity is given for a hearing before action is taken. During the suspension of a charter, Department may provide for the government and administration of the Unit.

a. Prior to suspension, a Unit may be placed on probation by the Department Executive Committee, or President, under the supervision of a committee of three (3), one (1) of whom shall be the District President, and two (2) appointed by the Department President. The Department Office shall notify the Unit immediately following the date of such probation. During probationary period, Unit shall be expected to continue all programs they have previously followed and shall be accountable to the Committee for a proper report when requested.

Section 2. The Department Executive Committee may suspend, cancel or revoke Unit charters for good cause to it appearing.

Section 3. Any Unit that a) fails to meet the obligations imposed upon it by the governing documents, policies, or requirements of the National Organization or Department of California, or b) ceases to function as an American Legion Auxiliary Unit from one Department Convention to the next, shall surrender its charter at the direction of the Department President. When a Unit so directed to surrender its charter fails to do so, the Department Executive Committee may take immediate steps to revoke the charter.

Section 4. An American Legion Auxiliary Unit whose charter has been suspended, cancelled, or revoked by the Department may appeal the decision of the Department Executive Committee to the National Executive Committee, as provided in the Standing Rules. See National Standing Rules in the method of procedure and appeal.

Section 5. Upon suspension of an American Legion Auxiliary Unit charter, the Department Executive Committee is authorized, empowered and directed, by and through its duly authorized agents, to take possession, custody and control of all records, assets, property, and belongings of the Unit and to provide for the governance and administration of the Unit during said suspension.

Section 6. With regard to suspensions, cancellations, and revocations of Unit charters, in no event shall the Department organization be required to assume any financial obligation with regard to records, assets, property, and belongings.

Section 7. Cancellation of a Unit charter shall be in order when two (2) or more Units merge, when a Unit ceases to function, or under such other conditions as might make such action necessary within the Department. In the event a Unit charter is canceled or revoked without the consent of such Unit, it shall have the right to appeal to the Department Executive Committee as provided in the Standing Rules.

Section 8. The National Executive Committee may prescribe rules of procedures to be followed in the revocation, suspension or cancellation of Unit charters, with full power from time to time to revise or amend such rules, provided, however, that until such rules have been adopted the procedure now in existence shall be applicable. All rules and procedures shall be in accordance with the principals of due process of law.

Section 9. Method of Procedure in Notice of Appeal – See National Standing Rules.

ARTICLE XII

Parliamentary Authority

Section 1. The rules contained in the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised* shall govern this organization in all cases in which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with applicable state and city statutes, the Department Constitution and Bylaws, Standing and Special Rules.

ARTICLE XIII

Amendments

Section 1. Refer to Department Constitution, Article VII, for method of amendment of Department Bylaws.

ARTICLE IX

Authority

The authority under which all Districts, Units, subsidiaries, and affiliated entities of the American Legion Auxiliary shall function is vested in this Department Constitution & Bylaws and such Standing Rules as have been duly adopted. Any provision of any District or Unit Constitution or Bylaws, any subsidiary, intermediate body, or affiliated entity's bylaws, or any regulation of any District, Unit, subsidiary, intermediate body, or affiliated entity in conflict with the foregoing authority shall be void.